RECEIVED

Feb 24 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
General Sessions Court
Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-GS-28-01123
Appellate Case No. 2024-001890

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Walter Wade Goad,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jack B. Swerling
1720 Main Street, Suite 301
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Telephone: 803-765-2626
South Carolina Bar No. 5457

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in denying the defense's motion to strike jurors 27 and 33 for cause?
2. Did the trial court err in admitting testimony of Joshua Parnell concerning prior alleged drug dealings with the defendant?
3. Did the trial court err in admitting testimony of the lead investigator that the defendant was a large-scale marijuana dealer?
4. Did the trial court err in denying the request for a jury charge on a lesser quantity of cocaine than the 200 to 400 grams charged in the indictment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Walter Wade Goad, was indicted in 2016 on a charge of trafficking cocaine, 200 to 400 grams. R. pp. 1-2. His case was tried before a jury on October 28-31, 2024, in the Kershaw County General Sessions Court, with Judge Jocelyn Newman presiding. R. p. 6. The jury found Appellant guilty of the charged offense. R. p. 631. Judge Newman sentenced Appellant to a term of imprisonment of 25 years and a fine of \$100,000. R. pp. 3-5, 640.

ARGUMENT

The charge in this case stemmed from a single alleged drug transaction. The state contended Appellant sold and delivered over 200 grams of cocaine to Joshua Parnell in a transaction alleged to have occurred on September 22, 2016, outside the home of Parnell's mother located on Ward Road in Lugoff, where Parnell conducted his illegal drug activities.

At the time of the alleged transaction giving rise to the charge against Appellant, the Ward Road residence was under surveillance by law enforcement officers. R. pp. 132-34, 205. The

surveillance officers were equipped with video cameras and cameras with telephoto lenses. R. pp. 205-06. Although the surveillance officers observed a person, later identified to have been Appellant, arrive at the Ward Road residence and observed that person talking to Parnell outside the residence, they did not observe a transfer of anything from that person to Parnell. R. pp. 204, 207. Nor did they photograph or video a transfer of anything from that person to Parnell. R. pp. 206-08. Although the lead investigator, Michael Sellers, claimed during his direct testimony that they witnessed Appellant deliver drugs to Parnell, on cross-examination he admitted no one witnessed any delivery whatsoever. R. pp. 173, 204.

The officers were at the Ward Road location due to a criminal investigation of Parnell's drug activities being conducted by Kershaw County Sheriff's Department employees and officials from other law enforcement agencies. Parnell had earlier become a target of an investigation based on a tip from a confidential informant. R. pp. 122-23. In the course of the investigation, law enforcement officials set up three controlled purchases involving Parnell and confidential informants, occurring August 5, August 24, and September 13, 2016. R. pp. 125-30. After the third controlled purchase of drugs from Parnell, which occurred at the Ward Road residence, they obtained a warrant to search that residence. R. p. 130. Before executing the search warrant, they had one of their confidential sources arrange another controlled purchase from Parnell, and they set up surveillance of the Ward Road residence. R. pp. 131-33. It was during this surveillance on September 22 that a white male arrived at the property, in a vehicle registered to Jennifer Goad. R. pp. 134-35. According to the lead investigator, Parnell and his brother were there and came outside, and the person who had arrived interacted with the two brothers in the front yard, then returned to the vehicle and drove away. R. pp. 134-36. Officers followed that vehicle until it was on the interstate highway, then other officers still at Ward Road conducted a search of the

residence, where a large quantity of cocaine was found. R. pp. 136-39, 211-16. Also found in the search was a drug ledger listing the people that owed Parnell money and the amounts they owed Parnell, as well as multiple scales and other items associated with drug dealing. R. pp. 145-48, 215-16, 389. Appellant's name did not appear on Parnell's drug ledger. R. p. 218. Apart from the cocaine Parnell claimed Appellant had delivered that day, other cocaine was found in various places throughout the house. R. pp. 214-16.

Parnell was questioned by law enforcement at the time of the search. Parnell claimed the person who had just left had given him a package of cocaine and Parnell had broken out a portion for the transaction he was preparing to have with the confidential informant he knew as Jose. R. pp. 393-97. Parnell initially indicated the person who had brought him the cocaine was someone named Ethan. R. pp. 149, 221-22, 399-400. Later, he changed his story and implicated Appellant. R. pp. 149-50, 222.

The large package of cocaine Parnell claimed Appellant had just delivered was found in a camouflage bag. R. pp. 141, 212-13, 652-55. By Parnell's own admission, the camouflage bag belonged to Parnell. R. pp. 437-38. Parnell testified Appellant did *not* deliver that bag to Parnell. R. p. 437. No witness observed Appellant deliver the camouflage bag to Parnell. R. pp. 204, 213. A smaller quantity of cocaine in a clear plastic bag was found in plain view on a chair, next to a digital scale. R. pp. 140, 212, 648-51.

Contrary to Parnell's claim that Appellant brought the cocaine to him that day, there was evidence Parnell already had the cocaine before he went to his mother's house and brought it with him. Parnell was recorded talking to the person he knew as Jose, to whom he planned to sell a quantity of cocaine that day. In the recorded phone conversation, Parnell told Jose he had just gotten the cocaine and was on his way to his mother's house. R. pp. 391-93. On the witness stand,

Parnell claimed he was already at his mother's house when the conversation with Jose occurred and was lying to Jose to buy time to break out a quantity for Jose. R. p. 393. However, the recorded conversation supports the defense contention that it was Parnell who brought the cocaine to the house, not Appellant. R. pp. 392-93. The defense contention is consistent with the fact that none of the surveillance officers observed anything being delivered by Appellant to Parnell. The defense contention is also consistent with the fact the largest quantity of drugs was found in Parnell's camouflage bag, a bag Parnell unequivocally claimed was his own and was not delivered to him by Appellant. R. pp. 212-13, 395, 437-38, 652-55.

During the search, Sellers weighed the two bags of drugs found in the living room on one of the scales found in the house and obtained a preliminary weight of approximately 281 grams. R. pp. 139, 148, 658-61. The larger quantity found in the camouflage bag was tested by SLED and determined to be 221 grams. R. pp. 308, 310. The smaller quantity was determined by SLED to be 55 grams. R. pp. 308, 310.¹

Parnell was a roofer, and he and Appellant had a history of working together in the construction business, on siding and other jobs related to Appellant's house construction business. R. pp. 458-60. The state introduced testimony concerning phone calls between Parnell and Appellant, as well as a recording of one of those calls. R. pp. 391, 400. Parnell testified the calls were about Appellant seeking to be paid for drugs Parnell claimed Appellant had delivered to him. R. pp. 401-02. But the recorded call contained no mention of any drug delivery or owing money for drugs, R. pp. 459-62, and it is equally plausible the various phone calls were about matters related to the men's activities in working together on construction projects. On one occasion,

¹ Although the SLED weights were 221 and 55 grams, for a total weight of 276 grams, throughout the trial the witnesses and attorneys referred to the quantity as 281 grams, the amount Sellers determined as the preliminary weight.

Appellant met Parnell at a job site and Parnell said he gave Appellant some money, but their conversation was not recorded and there was nothing to corroborate that payment was for drugs. R. pp. 161-63, 249-50.

Officers obtained a search warrant for the home of Appellant. In that search, they did not find drugs or large quantities of cash. R. pp. 164-68, 252, 511, 518-19. Although a canine used to detect drugs alerted to a box in the garage, no drugs were found in that box. R. pp. 166-67, 360, 366. The officers seized a large scale and an industrial-sized roll of cellophane, but the presence of those items was not necessarily linked to drug activities, since it was equally plausible Appellant possessed those items due to his work in the construction business. R. pp. 166-67. Also seized was a list of phone numbers. R. pp. 169, 253. Unlike the drug ledger found in the search of the house where Parnell dealt drugs, the list found at Appellant's residence contained no references to monetary amounts, only phone numbers. R. p. 253.

There was no evidence presented that Appellant engaged in any controlled buys conducted by law enforcement officials. Although there was testimony from Parnell and the lead investigator, Sellers, as to other alleged drug activities (challenged in two of Appellant's issues on appeal), the state did not produce any evidence of other drug activity by Appellant, apart from Parnell's testimony regarding alleged prior drug dealings with Appellant and Sellers' hearsay testimony as to other people's knowledge of alleged drug activity by Appellant, addressed in Arguments II and III, *infra* pages 14-30.

Parnell was charged with trafficking cocaine, 200 to 400 grams, based on the alleged transaction of September 22, 2016, and was facing a mandatory term of 25 years. R. pp. 259, 407, 486. He pled guilty to the lesser offense of trafficking 28 to 100 grams and received a sentence of ten years. R. pp. 259-61, 406-11, 487. He was not charged with any distribution crime related to

the three prior controlled sales to confidential informants in which he participated or the numerous other earlier drug deals the admitted to police. R. pp. 191-201, 434, 449. Other charges brought against Parnell after his arrest for trafficking cocaine were also dismissed. R. pp. 488-91. Parnell was an admitted heroin user, and he continued to use heroin daily after his arrest until his conviction and incarceration. R. pp. 484-86. His testimony was at times inconsistent with that of other state's witnesses, and he admitted his recollection of the events about which he was testifying was incomplete. R. p. 493.

I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN REFUSING TO STRIKE JURORS 27 AND 33 FOR CAUSE.

During voir dire, the defense challenged a number of prospective jurors for cause. Two of the jurors that the court declined to strike for cause, jurors 27 and 33, were called during jury selection, and the defense exercised peremptory strikes as to those two jurors. The defense exhausted its five strikes before jury selection was complete. Appellant contends the trial court committed prejudicial error in denying the challenges to these two jurors for cause.

Both the federal and state constitutions guarantee to a criminal defendant the right to an impartial jury. *See Warger v. Shauers*, 574 U.S. 40, 50 (2014); *State v. Rowell*, 444 S.C. 109, 113, 906 S.E.2d 554, 556 (2024); *State v. Gullede*, 277 S.C. 368, 370, 287 S.E.2d 488, 489 (1982), *overruled on other grounds by Rowell*; U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. Moreover, a criminal defendant has a due process right to be tried by competent jurors, which implies, among other things, the right to an impartial jury, a jury capable and willing to decide the case based solely on the evidence. *See Tanner v. United States*, 483 U.S. 107, 134 (1987) (Marshall, J., dissenting in part), *citing Jordan v. Massachusetts*, 225 U.S. 167, 176 (1912); *see also State v. Hurd*, 325 S.C. 384, 389, 480 S.E.2d 94, 97 (Ct.App. 1996); U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 3.

By statute, the court is given the responsibility to examine prospective jurors as to their interest, opinion, bias, and impartiality and to excuse any prospective juror who is not indifferent in the cause. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1020. Our Supreme Court considers it the duty – indeed, the “solemn duty” – of the trial court to ensure that every juror is unbiased, fair, and impartial. *See Rowell*, 444 S.C. at 113, 906 S.E.2d at 556, *citing Gullede*, 277 S.C. at 370, 287 S.E.2d at 489.

The trial court is accorded discretion in determining a juror’s competence. *See State v. Simpson*, 325 S.C. 37, 41, 479 S.E.2d 57, 59 (1996); *State v. Fripp*, 396 S.C. 434, 442, 721 S.E.2d 465, 469 (Ct.App. 2012). In this case, the trial court abused its discretion in denying the defense requests to strike jurors 27 and 33 for cause.

A. Juror 27.

During voir dire, the court informed the prospective jurors that the defendant was charged with trafficking between 200 grams and 400 grams of cocaine. R. p. 60. Later, following a bench conference, the trial judge indicated she had an additional question for the prospective jurors. She stated that when she earlier explained the defendant was charged with trafficking cocaine, 200 to 400 grams, someone whistled. She asked who that was, and juror 27 identified himself as the person who had whistled. R. p. 82. The court made no further inquiry of the juror with respect to his having whistled or whether he could be fair and impartial, and another bench conference was held. R. p. 82.

During jury selection, juror 27 was called, and the defense exercised a peremptory strike of that juror. R. p. 84. After the jury selection was complete, the defense placed on the record that it had asked the court to strike juror 27 for cause. R. p. 91. The court explained its earlier ruling: “I declined to strike him for cause because that would require the Court to interpret what he meant by the whistle, which I cannot do, and he said he can be fair and impartial.” R. p. 92. But, in fact,

that did not occur – the court did not ask and the juror did not say whether he could be fair and impartial. R. p. 82. The court’s ruling was erroneous, and it was prejudicial.

In this case, the trial court failed to properly make a determination as to juror 27’s ability to be fair and impartial. The judge stated in her ruling that she could not interpret the witness’s whistle. But the statute and case law cited above place on the trial judge the responsibility to inquire into the juror’s opinion and impartiality. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1020; *Rowell*, 444 S.C. at 113, 906 S.E.2d at 556. Juror 27 whistled when the court explained the defendant was charged with trafficking 200 to 400 grams of cocaine. That whistle was an expression of an opinion of some sort about the nature of the charge. While the judge may have believed she could not interpret the whistle, she had the authority – indeed, the solemn duty – to make further inquiry to determine if the whistle indicated the juror had an opinion, bias, or lack of impartiality that rendered him incompetent to serve as a juror. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1020; *Rowell*, 444 S.C. at 113, 906 S.E.2d at 556. But the trial judge made no such inquiry.

A judge’s failure to exercise her discretion is in itself an abuse of discretion. *See State v. Heyward*, 441 S.C. 484, 494, 895 S.E.2d 658, 663 (2023); *State v. Hawes*, 411 S.C. 188, 191, 767 S.E.2d 707, 708 (2015); *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987); *Samples v. Mitchell*, 329 S.C. 105, 112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 216 (Ct.App. 1997). The Court abused its discretion in failing to inquire as to the meaning of juror 27’s whistle, the potential opinion or bias of juror 27 with respect to the crime charged, and juror 27’s ability to be fair and impartial notwithstanding whatever opinion was the basis for his whistling about the crime charged.

The court’s ruling on the defense’s challenge to this prospective juror for cause was erroneous in another way. The court stated as part of the basis for its ruling that the juror “said he can be fair and impartial.” R. p. 92. But this aspect of the ruling was unsupported by the evidence.

When the court inquired as to the identity of the prospective juror that whistled, it made no further inquiry as to the meaning of the whistle or whether the juror, notwithstanding having expressed something by his whistle, could be fair and impartial. R. p. 82. The court's finding that this prospective juror said he could be fair and impartial is wholly unsupported by the evidence and therefore an abuse of discretion. *See Simpson*, 325 S.C. at 41, 479 S.E.2d at 59 ("A juror's competence is within the trial judge's discretion and is not reviewable on appeal unless wholly unsupported by the evidence.")

This case is not like those in which our appellate courts have upheld trial judges' decisions not to strike for cause jurors who had a pre-formed opinion. *Cf. State v. Britt*, 237 S.C. 293, 117 S.E.2d 379 (1960), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991); *State v. Gantt*, 223 S.C. 431, 76 S.E.2d 674 (1953), *overruled on other grounds by Torrence; Fripp*, 396 S.C. at 442, 721 S.E.2d at 468-69. In two of those cases, the trial judges made specific inquiry and the jurors affirmed their ability, notwithstanding having an opinion, to be fair and impartial and to render a verdict based solely upon the evidence, and further expressed they were not conscious of any bias or prejudice for or against the defendants. *See Britt*, 237 S.C. at 306, 117 S.E.2d at 385; *Gantt*, 223 S.C. at 435, 76 S.E.2d at 676. In the third, the juror specifically stated he could be fair and impartial. *See Fripp*, 396 S.C. at 442, 721 S.E.2d at 468-69.² But here, the trial judge made no inquiry whether this prospective juror, notwithstanding whistling and thereby expressing whatever opinion was the basis for his whistling, could be fair and impartial in his role as a juror and render a verdict based solely upon the evidence. The court's

² In *Britt*, *Gantt*, and *Fripp* the reviewing court also noted the challenging party had remaining challenges. *See Britt*, 237 S.C. at 306, 117 S.E.2d at 385-86, and *Fripp*, 396 S.C. at 442, 721 S.E.2d at 468-69 (appellants did not exhaust peremptory challenges); *see also Gantt*, 223 S.C. at 435-36, 76 S.E.2d at 676 (court later stood juror aside, thereby providing to appellants an additional challenge).

ruling – premised on the mistaken belief the juror had stated he could be fair and impartial, when in fact no inquiry was made and no answer given to that effect – was wholly unsupported by the record and amounted to an abuse of discretion.

B. Juror 33.

During voir dire, the court read a list of potential witnesses for the state and asked jurors about any relationship or knowledge of them. R. pp. 62-63. One of the listed witnesses was Chelsea Cockrill of the Kershaw County Sheriff's Office. R. p. 63. After reading the list of the state's witnesses, the court asked if any member of the jury panel was related by blood, connected by marriage, or had any close, personal relationship with any of the potential witnesses. R. p. 64. A number of prospective jurors stood, and the court then questioned them individually as to the nature of such relationships with the listed witnesses.

Juror 33 indicated that one of the witnesses, Chelsea Cockrill, would be marrying his cousin in December. R. p. 65. Additional questions and answers followed:

JUDGE NEWMAN:	. . . Do you socialize with her?
JUROR NO. 33:	(Inaudible.)
JUDGE NEWMAN:	For how long has that been the case? Months? Years?
JUROR NO. 33:	Three, four years, at least.
JUDGE NEWMAN:	Okay.
JUROR NO. 33:	(Inaudible.)
JUDGE NEWMAN:	Do you believe that you can still be a fair and impartial juror?
JUROR NO. 33:	(Inaudible.)

R. p. 66, lines 1-10.

At the conclusion of voir dire and before the jury selection began, there were several bench conferences. R. pp. 80, 81, 82. During jury selection, juror 33, who had a years-long social relationship and soon-to-be family relationship with Chelsea Cockrill, was called. R. p. 84. The defense exercised a peremptory strike of that juror. R. p. 84. After the jury was selected, the defense placed on the record that it had moved the court to excuse for cause members of the jury panel who had a relationship to the Kershaw County Sheriff's Department, which the court overruled. R. p. 91. The state put on the record that it objected because all the jurors said they could be fair and impartial regardless of their family's relationship with law enforcement. R. p. 91. The court stated for that reason it declined the request to excuse those jurors for cause. R. p. 91. As to juror 33, this ruling was both erroneous and prejudicial.

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