RECEIVED

Aug 28 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001890

The State,Respondent,

v.

Walter Wade Goad,Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

637-38, 828 S.E.2d at 595. In so holding, the court noted that none of the issues addressed on cross—whether the codefendant had attempted suicide, struggled with mental health issues, or accused the witness’s husband of sexual assault—arose out of the same fact or transaction as past incidents of physical abuse. *Id.* The *Heyward* court further noted that where the State was allowed to question the witness about incidents that did not arise out of the same fact or transaction, the response was simply not proportional or confined to the doors that had been opened. Here, the opposite is true. The issue specifically addressed on cross—whether Sellers knew about Appellant or knew Appellant’s name prior to the day of the incident—was precisely the same fact the State asked him about on redirect. The State certainly should have been allowed to drill down on this fact on redirect, and the trial court appropriately allowed it to do so.

In *Simmons*, our supreme court held the trial court abused its discretion in ruling that the door had been opened to certain evidence. *Simmons*, 430 S.C. at 16-17; 841 S.E.2d at 853. In so holding the court noted trial counsel “carefully tailored his questions to track the State’s direct examination” and rejected the contention that “the sequence of questioning” on cross-examination created an implication about the evidence that would permit the State to introduce evidence on re-direct that was previously deemed inadmissible. *Simmons*, 426 S.C. at 15-16, 841 S.E.2d at 852-53. Here, while Appellant initially seemed to tailor his questions to track the testimony given on direct, rather than simply acknowledging Sellers’ clarification that he “knew about [Appellant] prior to [the incident],” Appellant continued to dig into that response in an attempt to get Sellers to agree that his direct testimony meant Appellant, unlike Parnell, was *not* known to Sellers as a drug dealer. (Tr.p.197-p.198). This line of questioning matched the theme of Appellant’s entire defense which, as explained in Appellant’s closing argument and as elicited from various witnesses on cross, was clearly meant to create the implication that Parnell was a

drug dealer, known to police and the focus of their investigation, while Appellant was *not* a drug dealer and was *unknown* to police until the charge for which he was on trial. Thus, in direct contrast to the circumstances in *Simmons*, it was entirely proportional for the State to rebut that implication by eliciting the limited testimony that Appellant, like Parnell was also known or suspected by law enforcement as a drug dealer. Under the “generous standard of review” recognized by our supreme court, *See Simmons*, 430 S.C. at 16, 841 S.E.2d at 852, the trial court’s determination that Appellant opened the door to Sellers’ testimony and invited the State’s response to his cross-examination, should be affirmed.

Harmless Error

Finally, even if this Court finds the trial court erred in determining Appellant opened the door to the introduction of otherwise inadmissible evidence, any error was harmless in light of: (1) the overwhelming evidence of guilt, (2) the minimal effect of the challenged testimony on the remaining evidence as a whole, and (3) the cumulative nature of the testimony, all of which demonstrates, beyond a reasonable doubt, that it did not contribute to the jury’s verdict. For the same reasons discussed in Argument II above, any possible error in the admission of Sellers’ testimony was harmless given the overwhelming evidence of guilt and the jury’s necessary determination Parnell was credible. His knowledge of Appellant as a large-scale marijuana dealer in the area pales in comparison to the direct evidence that he trafficked the cocaine at issue. Furthermore, the admission of Sellers’ testimony was harmless because it was merely cumulative to the properly admitted prior bad acts testimony from Parnell about Appellant’s history of marijuana dealing. Thus, Sellers’ testimony was inconsequential to the ultimate decision. For all of these reasons, the State submits these arguments should be denied and dismissed, and Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

IV.

The trial court did not err in declining to instruct the jury with the lesser included offense requested because no testimony or evidence was presented to establish the elements of only that lesser charge and because the charge given adequately covered the law applicable to the case. Furthermore, any possible error in the jury charge was entirely harmless because, beyond a reasonable doubt, it did not affect the jury's deliberations or contribute to the verdict.

Appellant argues the trial court committed reversible error in refusing his request for a jury charge on a lesser quantity of cocaine than the 200 to 400 grams charged in the indictment. He contends there was evidence in the record to support the giving of a charge based on a lesser quantity than 200 grams of cocaine under both the theories he argued to the trial court, either of which would have allowed the jury to rationally infer he was guilty only of the lesser offense. Consequently, Appellant argues, the trial court erred in refusing to charge the jury on the lesser amount. Finally, Appellant argues the error was not harmless because it contributed to the verdict rendered. (Brief of Appellant, p.30-p.35). The State disagrees and submits Appellant's arguments are without merit.

The only testimony and evidence presented during trial established Appellant was either guilty of trafficking 200 to 400 grams of cocaine, or he was not guilty at all. Because no testimony or evidence was presented to establish *only* the required elements of trafficking any lesser amount of cocaine, the trial judge properly declined to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense. Furthermore, any possible error in the decision was harmless because it was not prejudicial to Appellant. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

The law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial. *State v. Rivera*, 389 S.C. 399, 404, 699 S.E.2d 157, 159 (2010); *State v. Holland*, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d

898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009). The appellate court will only reverse a trial judge's decision regarding jury instructions when that decision constituted a prejudicial abuse of discretion. *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000); *Rauch v. Zayas*, 284 S.C. 594, 597, 327 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 1985). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *Brown* at 87, 736 S.E.2d at 265; *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 477-78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011); *State v. Morris*, 376 S.C. 189, 205-06, 656 S.E.2d 359, 368 (2008). "No instruction should be given by the trial judge, at the request of the appellant, which tenders an issue which is not presented or supported by the evidence." *State v. Weaver*, 265 S.C. 130, 137, 217 S.E.2d 31, 34 (1975). The trial court only commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. *State v. Hill*, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 838, 849 (1993).

Relevant Facts

KCSO Investigator Sellers described the search of Parnell's residence in great detail. (Tr.p.112-p.134). While reviewing photographs taken during that search, Sellers described finding a large amount of cocaine in plain view, consisting of two large pieces—one in a large plastic bag sitting in the chair next to a yellow digital scale and another in a large plastic bag that was inside a camouflage bag that was sitting on the couch. Sellers also noted finding digital scales and small plastic sandwich baggies which would have been used to package smaller amounts of cocaine for sale; however, he did not mention seeing cocaine residue on any of those items. He then identified the BEST kit containing the actual drugs recovered from the house that day, which he believed came out to "about 280 grams or something like that." (Tr.p.134-p.137; State's Exhibits #4, #5, #6, #7, #8, and #9). Sellers later identified a photograph depicting the

two large pieces of cocaine being weighed together on Parnell's scale, which registered a combined weight of 281.7 grams. (Tr.p.143, lines 3-8; State's Exhibit #10).

On cross-examination, Sellers said he believed there was other cocaine in the house but did not know what the measurable amount was, only commenting that law enforcement generally does not leave any cocaine at a house following a search. He acknowledged his report suggested that cocaine was found in various places in the house, either a quantity of cocaine or residue, and said he was sure they took pictures of whatever was found. (Tr.p.209, line 14-p.211, line 14). Sellers later clarified that residue means it is *not* a weighable amount of cocaine. (Tr.p.213, line 14-p.214, line 21). On redirect, Sellers testified he was not surprised to find cocaine throughout Parnell's house, explaining that drug traffickers are not clean people and police often find drug residue on stuff in a dealer's house. (Tr.p.268, line 25-p.269, line 10).

Later, DEA Special Agent Hardin described everything discovered in Parnell's house that was consistent with dealing drugs which included: (1) 281 grams of cocaine, (2) four scales, (3) cocaine residue on the scales, (4) cocaine residue on a spoon, and (5) cocaine residue on some plastic baggies. He was asked if anybody determined a quantitative amount of any cocaine besides the 280 grams that was the subject of this prosecution. Hardin answered: "I think it was a cumulative amount, a total amount of the cocaine that was seized from inside that residence." (Tr.p.514, line 15-p.515, line 17). Hardin confirmed that after his arrest, Parnell told them Appellant was his source of supply. He testified that during the investigation law enforcement learned Appellant was dealing to other suppliers but not drug users, and that Parnell and Appellant went way back and had an established relationship. (Tr.p.498-p.504).

On the fourth day of trial, the trial court held a charge conference to discuss proposed jury instructions. The judge noted she would give a mere presence charge over the State's

objection; however, she was “a little more on the fence” about the lesser-included offense charge requested by Appellant and asked to hear Appellant’s theory in support of charging an amount under 200 grams. Appellant first argued that since there was testimony indicating additional cocaine, besides what Appellant allegedly delivered to Parnell, was located in Parnell’s house and testimony that all the cocaine in the house had been gathered and put into the BEST envelope, the jury could conclude the extra portion gathered from throughout the house is what caused the total weight to exceed 200 grams. The State argued Appellant was inaccurately restating Hardin’s testimony and that the only real evidence of additional cocaine came from Sellers who explained it was residue which could not be weighed or tested. Appellant contended there was contradictory evidence and that since there was at least *some* evidence of the lesser amount, it would be appropriate to charge the lesser-included offense to the jury. The trial court disagreed, ruling there was no competent evidence from which a jury could conclude that Appellant was guilty of trafficking the lesser amount. (Tr.p.541-p.548).

Appellant then argued an alternate theory in support of his request. He contended that were there were two large pieces of cocaine confiscated and weighed, the jury could conclude Appellant *only* delivered the smaller piece, which weighed 55 grams, rather than both, and therefore he could only be guilty of the lesser included offense. The trial court held: “Yeah, there’s no evidence of that though. Either they believe what Mr. Parnell said he brought this brick or they don’t. But there’s nothing nowhere, anyone - - they would have to completely speculate that, you know, make up their own story that Mr. Goad brought in this smaller piece. And frankly if that’s what they do, then he’s just not guilty. (Tr.p.548-p.549). After the parties gave closing arguments, the trial court charged the jury on the law, including trafficking in

cocaine 200-400 grams, without charging any lesser included offense of an amount under 200 grams. (Tr.p.609-p.624).

Discussion / Analysis

Trafficking is defined in the South Carolina Code as follows:

(e) Any person who knowingly sells, manufactures, cultivates, delivers, purchases, or brings into this State, or who provides financial assistance or otherwise aids, abets, attempts, or conspires to sell, manufacture, cultivate, deliver, purchase, or bring into this State, or who is knowingly in actual or constructive possession or who knowingly attempts to become in actual or constructive possession of:

....

(2) ten grams or more of cocaine or any mixtures containing cocaine, as provided in Section 44-53-210(b)(4), is guilty of a felony which is known as "trafficking in cocaine" and, upon conviction, must be punished as follows if the quantity involved is:

....

(d) two hundred grams or more, but less than four hundred grams, a mandatory term of imprisonment of twenty-five years, no part of which may be suspended nor probation granted, and a fine of one hundred thousand dollars;

S.C. Code Ann. 44-53-370(e) (2016). Thus, both under the statute and as noted in the State's opening statement (Tr.p.100-p.102), as long as the amount of cocaine was ten grams or more (which was uncontested), the jury could find Appellant guilty under several alternative theories of trafficking including that he was: (1) selling or delivering cocaine; (2) conspiring to sell or deliver cocaine; (3) knowingly in possession of cocaine; or (4) knowingly attempting to become in possession of cocaine.

Here, none of the evidence and testimony presented during trial supported a conclusion that Appellant could be guilty of *only* the lesser included offense. Indeed, there was absolutely

no testimony, including from Parnell, that only the smaller, 55 gram (two ounce) bag of cocaine but not the larger, 221 gram (eight ounce) bag of cocaine was delivered by Appellant. Parnell explained that after the delivery of the entire ten ounce brick, Parnell broke off 2 ounces (55 grams) to sell to José and placed the remaining cocaine in his camouflage bag. The crucial “facts” repeated by Appellant—that the camouflage bag was owned by Parnell and was not delivered by Appellant— are entirely consistent with Parnell’s testimony. As recognized by the trial judge, if the jury believed Parnell already had the cocaine before Appellant arrived and it was not delivered by Appellant, Appellant would be *not guilty* rather than guilty of *only* the lesser included offense. *Abney v. State*, 408 S.C. 41, 45-46, 757 S.E.2d 544, 546 (Ct. App. 2014). Similarly, where the two large portions alone weighed 281.7 grams on Parnell’s scale (State’s Exhibit #10), and Sellers testified any residual cocaine found throughout Parnell’s house would not have been measurable, there is no actual evidence to support either of Appellant’s alternate theories, only speculation. As a result, the trial judge committed no error by declining to instruct the jury on a lesser included offense wholly unsupported by the evidence and testimony presented during trial. For all of these reasons, Appellants’ conviction should be affirmed.

Harmless Error

Even if this Court finds the trial court somehow erred in failing to give a charge on a lesser quantity of cocaine, any possible error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because it was not prejudicial to Appellant. To reverse a criminal conviction based on an erroneous jury instruction, the appellate court must find the error was a prejudicial error. *State v. Bowers*, 436 S.C. 640, 646, 875 S.E.2d 608, 611 (2022). Prejudicial error in a jury instruction is an error that contributed to the jury verdict. *Id.* The question that must be addressed is not whether the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because of overwhelming evidence of guilt; rather, the

question is whether the erroneous jury charge affected the jury's deliberations and, thus, contributed to the verdict. *Id.* at 646-47, 875 S.E.2d at 611. Indeed, when considering whether an error with respect to jury instructions was harmless, the appellate court must determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict. *State v. Perry*, 440 S.C. 396, 408, 892 S.E.2d 273, 279 (2023). Here, Appellant could not possibly have suffered any prejudice because, where the jury accepted Parnell's testimony as credible, which it necessarily did, it could have reached no other conclusion but that he trafficked the approximately 276 grams of cocaine identified by SLED. (Tr.p.303, lines 6-21).


CONCLUSION

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